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Plaintiffs, Carol DaCosta, Wayne Cooper, M.D., Dana DiCocco and Melanie
Green, individually and on behalf of those similarly situated respectfully submit this
Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Class
Action Complaint, with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action brought against Prudential Insurance Company of America for
breaching their fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs by violating multiple mandatory procedures
set forth in The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA™).
Prudential failed to provide participants a “full and fair review” of long-term disability
claims and adverse benefit determinations during voluntary appeals, as required by
ERISA and The United States Department of Labor. Prudential implemented a secretive
company-wide policy amending their voluntary review process in violation of ERISA
solely for the purpose of cutting costs and increasing profitability. Prudential then failed
to notify any of its plan participants or administrators of this new voluntary appeals
policy change in further violation of ERISA’s rules and regulations.

Prior to January 1, 2005, Prudential had a three-step appeals process in the event a
long- term disability claim had been terminated or denied, under which a claimant was
afforded two mandatory level appeals and one voluntary appeal. Prudential provided an
ERISA Statement to its beneficiaries and their employers setting out the claims and
appellate procedures.! The claims at each of the three appellate levels were entitled to a

“full and fair review” as required under ERISA. Specifically, Prudential complied with

! See Compl. Ex. “A” at 3. stating “Upon receipt of a third appeal (voluntary), the claim will be directed to
Prudential’s Appeals Committee by a member of the Prudential Senior Claims Management Team, This
committee will be composed of three members of the Senior Claims Management Team who have not been
involved in any previous appeals.
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ERISA’s requirements that all three levels of appellate review were to be reviewed by
individuals that were not involved in the claim decision at any prior level.
Prudential modified their appeals process, effective January 1, 2005, offering only

onc mandatory appeal and one voluntary appeal. Prudential laid out the procedures in

detail for their new appeals process in an “Appeals Procedures Division Memorandum.””

These procedures were in compliance with 29 C.F.R.§2560.503-1.

However, on November 18, 2005 at 12:10 a.m. Drew DeChristopher, Manager of
Disability Claims, circulated an internal email’ to Prudential employees setting out the
details of a new policy for voluntary appeals that stated as follows:

Our operation is shifting its approach to the
handling of volunteer appeal levels, this refers to
the second or third appeal, whichever is deemed
voluntary...For the voluntary appeal, the appeal
can be handled by the same individual who
handled the prior mandatory appeals. There are no
requirements that Prudential consult with a
different medical consultant if the claim was
previously based on the medical. A de novo
standard does not apply.

Beginning with any voluntary appeals received
11/14/05 or later, I would ask you to begin to
manage vour own 2" appeals... There are no
hard and fast rules for what steps to take on
such an appeal. You are expected to exercise good
judgment based on the circumstances of the claim.
If the claim review can be perfected further by
taking action, you should take such appropriate
action, If no action is warranted, that is ok
too....

% See Compl. Ex. “B” at 9. Specifically, the second appeal (voluntary appeal) would receive a full and
independent review of the claim file. No deference could be given to either the initial denial or the denial
on appeal. The decision on second (voluntary) appeal will be authorized by a member of Prudential’s
Management Team that was not previously involved in an adverse decision on the claim.

3 See Compl. Ex. “C.”
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Hopefully this change will reduce case load
burden a bit since there will be files vou will
receive/self assign as new pendings that you will
not need to learn from scratch, Desired behavior
is to ensure that the 1% review is the strongest
review possible . as it could be the last review
Prudential is afforded. If that behavior occurs, the
burden of 2™ appeal reviews should be further
lessened.

Prudential unilaterally, and without notice to any of its participants, determined
that they no longer had to comply with ERISA standards when handling voluntary
appeals on or after November 14, 2005. No documents were ever provided to
participants establishing Prudential’s new claims handling procedures, as required by
federal law. The new procedures were never added to Prudential’s Summary Plan
Description (SPD) nor were they disclosed in Prudential’s Summary of Material
Modifications of Claims Procedures (SMM) drafted in 2005 and again in 2006. In fact

these new appeal procedures were never provided to participants or their employers

even when specifically requested in writing, Prudential claims that the denial letter

sent to the claimants which included a sentence stating: “please forward your appeal
request to me at the above address”, was sufficient notice informing the claimant that
should they decide to file a voluntary appeal, that appeal would be reviewed and
determined by the same individual who denied their first appeal. Defendant’s position
has no merit.

The failure to disclose the new voluntary appeal procedures to plan participants is
a violation of 29 C.F.R §2560.503-1(c)(3)(iv), 29 C.F.R §2560.503-1(j)(4) and (5)(1). As
Prudential failed to provide Plaintiffs with sufficient information relating to the voluntary

level of appeal; Plaintiffs were deprived of a meaningful opportunity to make an



Case 2:10-cv-00720-JS -ARL Document 23 Filed 06/18/10 Page 10 of 29

informed decision about whether to submit a benefit dispute to the voluntary level of
appeal. Specifically 29 C.F.R.§2560.503-1(c)(3)(iv) states in pertinent part:

To the extent that a plan offers voluntary levels of
appeal...the claims procedures provide that: The
plan provides to any claimant, upon request,
sufficient information relating to the voluntary
level of appeal to enable the claimant to make an
informed judgment about whether to submit a
benefit dispute to the voluntary level of
appeal...the process for selecting the decision
maker, and the circumstances, if any, that may
affect the impartiality of the decision maker,
such as financial or personal interests in_the
result or any past or present relationship with
any party to the review process.

The United States Department of Labor promulgated specific ERISA claims
guidelines for an administrator to follow in order to provide a full and fair review.
Specific guidelines for voluntary appeals are set out in the Department of Labor’s
Compliance Assistance Manual, under Frequently Asked Questions, stating in pertinent
part.

E-1 While regulation limits a plan’s claim
procedure to a maximum of two mandatory appeal
levels, the regulation does permit plans to offer
voluntary additional levels of appeal...providing
certain conditions are met, The conditions of the
regulation focus on ensuring that the claimant
elects the additional appeal voluntarily.
Specifically, the regulation provides that, in the
case of such voluntary levels of appeal, the plan’s
claim procedure must provide...the claimant
with sufficient information to make an informed
judgment about whether to submit _a claim
through the voluntary appeal process, including
the _specific information delineated in the

regulation.
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Prudential failed to notify their plan participants or administrators that after
November 14, 2005, the voluntary appeals review process would no longer be complying
with ERISA which in turn meant that claimants would no longer be receiving a full and
fair review of their voluntary appeals. Prudential failed to provide participants with
“sufficient information to make an informed judgment about whether to submit a claim
through the voluntary appeal process” as required by 29 C.F.R. §2560.503-1(c)(3)(iv)
and the Department of Labor. At no time did Prudential provide information regarding
the “process for selecting the decision maker, and the circumstances, if any, that may
affect the impartiality of the decisionmaker, such as any financial or personal interests in
the result or any past or present relationship with any party to the review process” as
required by 29 C.F.R. §2560.503-1(c)(3)(iv).

Prudential never informed its participants that the same person that denied their
first mandatory appeal was going to be the same individual that would review and
determine the outcome of their voluntary appeal. Plaintiffs requested specifically, in
writing, procedures for voluntary appeals to no avail. The class claimants never had any
idea as to how their voluntary appeal would be handled. ERISA requires that Prudential
disclose these procedures upon request, Prudential failed to do so. As a result, claimants
were completely unaware that their voluntary appeals were going to be “rubber stamped”
by the same person who had just denied their first appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides for dismissal of a
complaint that fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. “In ruling on a

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted, the court
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is required to accept the material facts alleged in the complaint as true.” Fishbein v.
Miranda, 670 F. Supp. 2d 264, (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (citing, Frasier v. Gen Elec. Co., 930
F.2d 1004, 1007 (2d Cir. 1991)). The court is also required to read the complaint
generously, drawing all reasonable inferences from its allegations in favor of the plaintiff.
California Motor Transp Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508, 515 (1972). “The
court must not dismiss a complaint unless it appears beyond a doubt, even when the
complaint is liberally construed, that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that would
entitle him to relief.” Frommert v. Conkright, 433 F.3d 254, 262 (2d Cir. 2006) (citing
Jaghory v. N.Y. State Dep’t of Educ.,131 F.3d 326, 329 (2d Cir. 1997)).

At this early stage of the litigation, the Court is not called upon to determine the
merits of the Plaintiffs’ case, but simply is called upon to test the sufficiency of the
Plaintiffs’ complaint. A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) requires the Court
to construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Bloch v. Ribar, 156
F.3d 673, 677 (6™ Cir. 1998); and determine whether “it appears beyond a doubt that the
plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to
relief.” Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957). The court must liberally construe
the complaint in favor of the party opposing the motion and may dismiss the case only
where no set of facts could be proved consistent with the allegations which would entitle
the plaintiff to recover. Hishon v. Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984).

In deciding a motion to dismiss the question is “not whether the plaintiff will
ultimately prevail but whether the claimant is entitled to offer evidence to support the

claims.” Shuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S, 232, 236 (1974).
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Plaintiffs have clearly stated a claim upon which relief can be granted. Therefore,
Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with prejudice should be denied.
ARGUMENT
L PRUDENTIAL FAILED TO PROVIDE REASONABLE NOTICE
THAT PLAINTIFFS’ VOLUNTARY APPEAL WOULD NOT BE

AFFORDED A “FULL AND FAIR REVIEW” AS REQUIRED BY
ERISA.

Prudential argues that ERISA’s rules and regulations only apply to mandatory
appeals and voluntary appeals are not governed by ERISA, This premise is completely
false. There is no case law in any circuit that states or implies that the full and fair review
standards required by 29 U.S.C.§ 1133(2) and 29 C.F.R. 2560.503-1(b)(1) do not apply to
voluntary appeals. In fact, the opposite is true. Prudential claims that since the appeals
are “voluntary” they can do as they please. The internal email sent by Drew De
Christopher to Prudential employees states, “there are no hard and fast rules for what

steps to take on such an appeal.” 4

Prudential’s argument that ERISA allows an
administrator to conduct an appellate review with no hard and fast rules and without
providing a full and fair review is contrary to the entire intent behind ERISA.’

29 US.C.§ 1133(2) mandates that every ERISA plan “afford a reasonable
opportunity to any participant whose claim for benefits has been denied a full and fair
review by the appropriate named fiduciary of the decision denying the claim.” Ward v.
Life Ins. Co. of North America, 2009 WL 2740202 *6 (M.D.N.C, 2009). In Ward v.
LINA, the Court held that a voluntary appeal is governed by ERISA and must be

afforded a full and fair review. In Ward, Plaintiff appealed the initial denial of benefits,

* See Compl, Ex. “C.”

* “One of the principal goals of ERISA is to enable employers ‘to establish a uniform administrative
scheme, which provides a set of standard procedures to guide processing of claims and disbursement of
benefits.” Fort Halifax Packing Co. v. Coyne, 482 U.8. 1 (1987).



Case 2:10-cv-00720-JS -ARL Document 23 Filed 06/18/10 Page 14 of 29

The appeal was denied. Plaintiff then chose to submit a second, voluntary appeal. The
Defendant, LINA, argued that since Plaintiff was only questioning the treatment of his
second, voluntary appeal, and the filing of a voluntary appeal is not required by ERISA
prior to the filing of a lawsuit, the admitted procedural error “does not undermine LINA’s
first and second determinations that the Plaintiff was not disabled.” The court did not
agree. Id. at*5.

According to the court in Ward, ERISA requires employee benefit plans that deny
disability benefits to “set forth the specific reasons for such denial, written in a manner
calculated to be understood by the participant.” fdat*6, See. 29 U.S.C. § 1133, The
accompanying regulations further require the plan to describe “any additional material or
information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why
such material or information is necessary.” 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(g)(ii{). Once an
appeal is filed, the plan administrator must provide a full and fair review, as provided by
the statute and regulations. See § 2560.503-1(j). These rules are “designed both to allow
the claimant to address the determinative issues on appeal and to ensure meaningful
review of the denial.” Love v. Nar’l City Corp. Welfare Benefits Plan, 574 F.3d 392 (7"

Cir. 2009).

Here, the letter denying Plaintiff’s second
(voluntary) appeal clearly, and admittedly,
contains egregious errors and is deficient in
providing a basis for denial of the appeal. It is
not_clear in _any way that Plaintiff’s appeal
received a  meaningful and _ reasoned
consideration. While it is true that Plaintiff’s
second appeal was “voluntary” under ERISA, it
does mnot necessarily follow that the plan
administrator could ignore the appeal or not
afford it a full and fair review.
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Ward at *6. (emphasis added)
The Court held that Defendant failed to provide a full and fair review of Plaintiffs
(voluntary) appeal of the denial of disability benefits. Ward at *6.

1L. PRUDENTIAL FAILED TO COMPLY WITH ERISA
REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO VOLUNTARY APPEALS

ERISA does not require a Plan to offer a voluntary appeal. However, if the Plan
chooses to offer the option of submitting a voluntary appeal, it must comply with
ERISA’s rules and regulations with respect to reviewing voluntary appeals. According to
the Court in Cook v. The New York Times Co. Long-Term Disability Plan, [2004 WL

203111 (S.D.N.Y 2004)], the administrator of an employer’s long-term_disability

plan_was required to comply with ERISA’s notification requirements and

requirement of full and fair review of determination on a former emplovee’s third

(voluntary) appeal from denial of benefits, regardless of the fact that it was the

employee’s third (voluntary) appeal. According to the Court in Coof,

It could be argued that ERISA’s regulations
should not apply to decisions on review after the
first appeal. Defendant however, does not raise
this argument, and even if it did, it would not be
persuasive. First, by its language, ERISA’s
regulations apply equally to all “notifications of
benefit determination on review and do not
distinguish among levels of appeal. |Cook at *16
(citing 29 C.FR.§ 2560.503-1(j))]. Second, the
requirement of a full and fair review on the first
go-around should apply no less simply because
an_administrator grants an additional level of
appeal: a second appeal that does nothing to
cure the procedural deficiencies of the first will
not constitute substantial compliance merely by
virtue of its existence. Because the notice of
denial on plaintiff’s second appeal again failed to
provide the required information, the denial of
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the third (voluntary) appeal equally violates
ERISA. [/d at*16.]

Prudential failed to conduct their voluntary appeals in compliance with 29 C.F.R.
2560.503-1(c)(3) as they did not provide Plaintiffs with sufficient information relating to
the voluntary level of appeal to enable them to make an informed judgment about
whether to submit a benefit dispute to the voluntary level of appeal. Additionally, the
Summary of Material Modifications of Claims Procedures® (SMM) was disbursed to
participants and their employers on or about August 1, 2006. The SMM fails to advise
claimants of the manner in which voluntary appeals are to be conducted. Paragraph one
of the SMM states:

The following describes the current claims
procedures followed by Prudential when
processing Group Short Term and Long Term
Disability claims. It clarifies when a claim is
considered to have been filed, and restates our
current process for determining benefits and for
the processing of appeals of adverse claim
determinations. It is a Summary of Material
Modifications (SMM) which is required to be
disclosed to participants by federal law, and
which explains the changes to the Summary Plan
Description (SPD) of the Plan.

Nowhere in the SMM does it indicate that the procedures for processing a
voluntary appeal have changed. Nowhere does it state that if a voluntary appeal is
submitted, it will not be afforded a full and fair review. Federal law requires that
Prudential notify its beneficiaries of changes in claim filing procedures. 29

C.F.R.2560.503-1. That is the purpose behind the requirement of distributing an SMM.

It is clear that this information was not provided in the SMM or anywhere else due to the

® See Summary of Material Modifications of Claims Procedures dated August 1, 2006 attached to
Plaintiffs* Complaint.

10
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fact that Prudential’s modifications to the voluntary appeal process were in violation of
ERISA’s rules and regulations.

Furthermore, ERISA’s implementing regulations require that disability denials
which rely on “an internal rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion” must set
forth the specific criterion relied upon, or state that a copy will be “provided free of
charge to the claimant upon request.” 29 C.F.R. §2560.503-1(g)(v)(A). Prudential
violated this provision by failing to set forth the internal guidelines and protocols for their
voluntary appeals.

1. ARTICLE IIT STANDING

Plaintiffs have filed a cause of action alleging violations of several rights ERISA
bestows upon plan participants that are wholly procedural in character. Specifically,
Prudential is alleged to have violated 29 C.F.R. §2560.503-1(c)(3)(iv)’; § 2560.503-

1()(1)(iv) & (VI(A)®; §2560.503-1(h)(3)(ii) & (v); and §2560.503-1()(4) & (5)(i).

7 "The claims procedures of a group health plan wiil be deemed to be reasonable only if, in addition to

complying with the requirements of paragraph (b) of this section-- To the extent that a plan offers voluntary
levels of appeal (except to the extent that the plan is required to do so by State law), including voluntary
arbitration or any other form of dispute resolution, in addition to those permitted by paragraph (c)(2) of this
section, the claims procedures provide that: The plan provides to any claimant, upon request, sufficient
information relating to the voluntary level of appeal to enable the claimant to make an informed judgment
about whether to submit a benefit dispute to the voluntary level of appeal, including a statement that the
decision of a claimant as to whether or not to submit a benefit dispute to the voluntary level of appeal will
have no effect on the claimant's rights to any other benefits under the plan and information about the
applicable rules, the claimant's right to representation, the process for selecting the decisionmaker, and the
circumstances, if any, that may affect the impartiality of the decisionmaker, such as any financial or
personal interests in the result or any past or present relationship with any party to the review process." 29
C.F.R. §2560.503-1(c)(3)(iv).

¥ "Except as provided in paragraph (g)(2) of this section, the plan administrator shall provide a claimant
with written or electronic notification of any adverse benefit determination. Any electronic notification
shall comply with the standards imposed by 29 CFR 2520.104b-1(c)(1)(i), (iii), and (iv). The notification
shall set forth, in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant-- (iv) A description of the plan's
review procedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures, including a statement of the claimant's
right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of the Act following an adverse benefit determination on
review; (v) In the case of an adverse benefit determination by a group health plan or a plan providing
disability benefits, (A) If an internal rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion was relied upon in
making the adverse determination, either the specific rule, guideline, protocel, or other similar criterion; or
a statement that such a rule, guideline, protocel, or other similar criterion was relied upon in making the
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29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3) empowers a plan participant or beneficiary to bring a civil
suit "(A) to enjoin any act or practice which violates any provision of this subchapter or
the terms of the plan, or (B) to obtain other appropriate equitable relief (i) to redress such
violations or (ii) to enforce any provisions of this subchapter or the terms of the plan." 29
US.C. § 1132(a)3). 29 UK.C. § 1132(a)(1)(b) empowers a plan participant or
beneficiary to bring suit "to recover benefits due to him under the terms of his plan, to
enforce his rights under the terms of the plan, or to clarify his rights to future benefits
under the terms of the plan." 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(b).

The aforementioned rights that Plaintiffs allege to have been violated are designed
to safeguard a plan participant's concrete and particularized right to a full and fair
determination of a claim by a plan administrator. These violations are ongoing and
represent the Defendant's modus operandi. The Defendant continues to violate the terms
of ERISA, purporiedly secure in its belief that despite acting in contravention of federal
law, affecting untold numbers of beneficiaries, it can claim it is no big deal. It is
axiomatic that the deprivation of a remedy is the deprivation of the right it is intended to

vindicate,

. adverse determination and that a copy of such rule, guideline, protocol, or other criterion will be provided
free of charge to the claimant upon request.” §2560.503-1(g)(iv) & (v)(A).

12
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A) STANDING. GENERALLY:

"There are three Article III standing requirements: (1) the plaintiff must have
suffered an injury-in-fact; (2) there must be a causal connection between the injury and
the conduct at issue; and (3) the injury must be likely to be redressed by a favorable
decision." Kendall v. Employees Retirement Plan of Avon Products, 561 F. 3d 112, 118
(2d Cir. 2009) (citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992})). "Ina
class action, once standing is established for a named plaintiff, standing is established for
the entire class.” Id. "[O]nly one of the named Plaintiffs is required to establish standing
in order to seek relief on behalf of the entire class." Central States Southwest &
Southwest Areas Health & Welfare Fund v. Merck-Medco Managed Care, L.L.C., 504 F,
3d 229, 241 (2d Cir. 2007). See 1 ALBA CONTE & HERBERT B. NEWBERG,
NEWBERG ON CLASS ACTIONS § 2:6 n. 3 (4th ed. 2002) (“To establish Article III
standing in a class action, it is not required that each named plaintiff must have a claim
against each named defendant. Rather, for every named defendant there must be at least
one named plaintiff who can assert a claim directly against that defendant, and at that
point standing is satisfied and only then will the inquiry shift to a class action analysis™).

To seek injunctive relief, a plaintiff must show that
he is under threat of suffering “injury in fact” that is
concrete and particularized; the threat must be
actual and imminent, not conjectural or
hypothetical, it must be fairly traceable to the
challenged action of the defendant; and it must be
likely that a favorable judicial decision will prevent
or redress the injury. This requirement assures that
there is a real need to exercise the power of judicial

review in order to protect the interests of the
complaining partyf.]

® Hereinafter referred to as "Central States [1."
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